# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

TO THE PROPERTY OF THE PROPERT

McMILLIN ALBANY, LLC, et al.,	Kern County Superior Court Case No. S-1500-CV-	
Petitioners,	279141	
v. SUPERIOR COURT OF KERN COUNTY,	Honorable David Lampe, Judge Presiding, Dept. 11	
Respondent,	)	
CARL & SANDRA VAN TASSEL, et al.,		
Real Parties in Interest.		

From the Published Opinion of the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District, 5<sup>th</sup> Civ. No. F069370

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

MILSTEIN ADELMAN, LLP
Mark A. Milstein, SBN 155513
Fred M. Adelman, SBN 131658
\*Mayo L. Makarczyk, SBN 203035
(mmakarczyk@milsteinadelman.com)

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. In their Petition for Review, Real Parties in Interest Carl & Sandra Van Tassel, et al. (herein Plaintiffs) framed the first issue as follows: "Does Title Seven of the Civil Code, at section 895, et seq., commonly referred to as 'SB800', preclude a homeowner from bringing common law causes of

action for defective conditions in his or her home which have resulted in physical damage to the home?" (Petition for Review, page 1.) In their Answer, Petitioners McMillin Albany, LLC and McMillin Park Avenue, LLC (herein collectively McMillin) contended the issue should be formulated more broadly. They proposed that the issue be stated as, "What is the scope of causes of action that are precluded by Title Seven of the Civil Code, at section 895, et seq., commonly referred to as 'SB800', for residential construction defects in non-condominium conversion homes, where the alleged defects have resulted in physical damage to the home?" (Answer, page 35.) Plaintiffs concurred that the issue should be framed more broadly, and proposed in their Reply that the issue be framed as, "What is the scope of causes of action that are precluded by SB800 for residential construction defects in noncondominium conversion homes?" (Reply, pages 5-6.) Put another way: What, if any, common law rights of California homeowners are nullified by SB800?<sup>1</sup>

2. Does SB800 require compliance with the statutory prelitigation procedure set forth at Civil Code section 910 et seq., if the homeowner does not state any claim for relief under SB800?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As shown below, this broader formulation of the first issue is necessary in order to adequately address the second of the two issues under review by this Court. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.516(a)(1) [parties may brief issues that are "fairly included" within the specified issues].)

#### INTRODUCTION

Prior to the enactment of SB800, a homeowner who discovered a damage-causing defect in his or her home could sue the builder, and state common law causes of action for negligence and strict liability, provided it had not been ten years since the home was originally completed and put up for sale. This case presents the question of whether a homeowner may still do that, and, if not, then how *much* of an incursion SB800 has made into the homeowner's common law rights.

As shown below, the Legislature did not intend to take these rights away, but instead to set up a system whereby defects that have not yet caused damage to the home can be reported to the builder, and the builder can have the opportunity to inspect and repair them. The purpose of this system is to reduce litigation and to allow recovery for purely economic losses that are otherwise not recoverable in tort.

Finally, to the extent that the common law rights of homeowners have been lessened as a result of the enactment of SB800, the incursion is limited to the ability to bring tort claims based upon defects that violate the SB800 building standards. Homeowners remain free to bring tort claims based upon damage-causing defects that are not addressed in the SB800 building standards, and their right to sue for breach of contract or breach of express or implied warranty is entirely unaffected by SB800.

#### **FACTUAL SUMMARY**

This matter arises from a construction defect action involving 37 homes in Bakersfield, California. (1 Writ Exh., Tab 2.) The homes are owned by the plaintiffs, and were originally sold by McMillin sometime after January 1, 2003. (1 Writ Exh., Tab 4 at 23-24 and 31-32; 1 Writ Exh., Tab 5; and 2 Writ Exh., Tab 5.) The homes are accordingly subject to the requirements of Title 7 of the Civil Code at section 895, et seq., commonly referred to as SB800. (Cal. Civ. Code sec. 938; 1 Writ Exh., Tab 4 at 23; 2 Writ Exh., Tab 7 at 464.)

Plaintiffs alleged that their homes suffered from a variety of defective conditions, which had resulted in damage to the homes and their component parts. (1 Writ Exh., Tab 2 at 556, para. 18.) Initially, plaintiffs stated a total of seven causes of action against McMillin sounding in tort and contract (including causes of action for breach of express and implied warranty), along with a single cause of action for violation of the building standards at Civil Code section 896, also referred to as the SB800 building standards. (1 Writ Exh., Tab 2.) Later, however, plaintiffs dismissed their cause of action under SB800. (1 Writ Exh., Tab 3.)

McMillin never demurred or moved to dismiss to any of the remaining causes of action in plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint. (See 1 Writ Exh., Tab 1.) However, shortly after plaintiffs' dismissal of their cause of action under SB800, McMillin moved to stay the matter under Civil Code section 930(b),

based upon the plaintiffs' failure to complete the SB800 prelitigation procedure at Civil Code section 910, et seq. (1 Writ Exh., Tab 4.)

Plaintiffs opposed McMillin's motion on the ground that they no longer stated any cause of action or sought any relief under SB800 and consequently were under no obligation to complete the SB800 statutory prelitigation procedure. (2 Writ Exh., Tab 7 at 465.) Plaintiffs also contended that their ability to proceed exclusively by way of common law causes of action, regardless of whether the alleged defects violated the SB800 building standards, had been established in *Liberty Mutual Insurance Co. v. Brookfield Crystal Cove LLC* (2013) 219 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 98. (2 Writ Exh., Tab 7 at 464-469.)

The trial court denied McMillin's Motion to Stay, but stated in its order that it believed that substantial grounds existed for difference of opinion in regards to the governing question of law, and stated pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 166.1 that resolution of the question would materially advance the conclusion of the litigation. (3 Writ Exh., Tab 13 and Tab 16.)

McMillin filed its Petition for Writ of Mandate with the Fifth District Court of Appeal on May 16, 2014. In it, McMillin's primary contention was that *Liberty Mutual* was wrongly decided, and that SB800 is in fact the exclusive remedy for homeowners who seek to recover for any manner of construction defect, and that the Legislature had by enacting SB800 abolished the common law causes of action which remained in plaintiffs' First Amended

Complaint. (See Petition for Writ, pages 19-42.) Plaintiffs were invited to and did file an Informal Response, to which McMillin filed a Reply. On September 12, 2104, the Fifth District issued an Order to Show Cause why the relief sought in McMillin's Petition should not be granted, and ordered plaintiffs to file a Return.

In their Return, plaintiffs contended that, because McMillin had moved to stay the action instead of demurring or moving to dismiss, the only question properly before the Court of Appeal was whether a stay order was proper in the absence of a cause of action for SB800, and *not* whether it was proper for the plaintiffs to proceed under non-SB800, common law causes of action based upon the existence of resulting damage. (Return, pp. 14-21.) Plaintiffs further contended that the trial court had properly denied McMillin's motion to stay, because, given the absence of a cause of action under SB800, McMillin was not entitled to a stay under Civil Code section 930(b). (Return, pp. 21-29.) Finally, plaintiffs contended that SB800 did not nullify the common law right of California homeowners to bring defect claims based upon resulting damage, for the reasons stated in *Liberty Mutual* and *Burch v. Superior Court* (2014) 223 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1411, a Second District case which had been issued during the pendency of the Petition, and which adopted the reasoning of *Liberty Mutual* on facts similar to those at issue in the plaintiffs' action against McMillin. (Return, pp. 32-36.)

The Fifth District issued its opinion on August 25, 2016. The court granted the writ relief sought by McMillin, finding that SB800 is the exclusive remedy for homeowners who seek to bring a defect-related action against the builder of their home, and that *Liberty Mutual* was therefore wrongly decided. (Typed Opn., pp. 7-19.) The Fifth District also held that, even in the absence of a cause of action or claim for relief under SB800, a builder is still entitled to an order under Civil Code section 930(b) staying the homeowners' court action pending their completion of the SB800 prelitigation procedure at Civil Code section 910, et seq. (Typed Opn., pp. 8-9 and 15.)

Plaintiffs filed a Petition for Review with this Court, stating the two issues for review that are set forth above. This Court granted review on November 24, 2015. (The Court's Order does not itself specify issues for review.)

# THE PASSAGE AND CONTENT OF TITLE 7 OF THE CIVIL CODE, COMMONLY KNOWN AS SB800

In 2002, the Legislature enacted SB800 (giving it no formal name) at Civil Code section 895, et seq. SB800 sets forth a detailed list of building standards at Civil Code section 896, and makes the violation of the standards actionable for most all new residential construction sold on or after January 1, 2003. (Civ. Code §§ 896, 938.) SB800 sets up a standard of strict liability for builders--if a homeowner shows the existence of an unmet standard, then he or

she need not prove causation or damages in an action against the builder, although the builder may assert various affirmative defenses bases upon, e.g., the homeowner's failure to perform necessary maintenance or alteration of the property. (Civ. Code §§ 942, 945.5.)

Before a homeowner may bring an action under SB800, he or she must serve a notice of claim upon the builder describing the building standard violations in his or her home. (Civ. Code sec. 910.) The builder then has the opportunity to inspect and repair in accordance with a lengthy prelitigation process that is set forth in Chapter 4 of SB800 at Civil Code section 910, et seq. Although, as explained below (see sec. 1.c.ii, f.n. 2), opinions issued by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in recent years have broadly interpreted Civil Code section 914(a) to allow builders to opt out of the statutory prelitigation procedure, and to replace it with alternative contractual procedures that impose no meaningful deadlines for action, and that delete the homeowner protections that are written into Chapter 4 of SB800.

A homeowner is entitled to recover damages as provided in Civil Code sections 943(b) and 944. Homeowners are entitled to the lesser of the cost of repair or the diminution in value due to the defects, subject to the "personal reason" exception, and can also recover damages for loss of use and investigative costs.

McMillin submitted an extensive legislative history in support of its

Petition for Writ of Mandate. (See Exhibits to Motion for Judicial Notice of
Legislative History of SB800, Volumes I and II.) The legislative history

contains various reports analyzing the likely effect of the proposed legislation.

For example, the August 26, 2002 report of the Assembly Committee on

Judiciary states the following "synopsis" of SB800:

This bill, the consensus product resulting from nearly a year of intense negotiations among the interested parties, proposes two significant reforms in the area of construction defect litigation. First, the bill would establish definitions of construction defects for the first time, in order to provide a measure of certainty and protection for homeowners, builders, subcontractors, design professionals, and insurers. Secondly, the bill requires that claimants alleging a defect give builders notice of the claim, following which the builder would have an absolute right to repair before the homeowner could sue for violation of these standards. If the builder failed to acknowledge the claim within the time specified, elected not to go through the statutory process, failed to request an inspection within the time specified, or declined to make the offer to repair, or if the repair is inadequate, the homeowner is relieved from any further prelitigation process.

(Exhibits to Motion for Judicial Notice of Legislative History of SB800, Volume I, page 202.)

A general declaration of the legislative purpose of SB800 is found at Section 1 of Stats.2002, c. 722 (S.B.800). It states:

The Legislature finds and declares, as follows:

(a) The California system for the administration of civil justice is one of the fairest in the world, but certain

procedures and standards should be amended to ensure fairness to all parties.

- (b) The prompt and fair resolution of construction defect claims is in the interest of consumers, homeowners, and the builders of homes, and is vital to the state's continuing growth and vitality. However, under current procedures and standards, homeowners and builders alike are not afforded the opportunity for quick and fair resolution of claims. Both need clear standards and mechanisms for the prompt resolution of claims.
- (c) It is the intent of the Legislature that this act improve the procedures for the administration of civil justice, including standards and procedures for early disposition of construction defects.

#### DISCUSSION OF THE ISSUES BEFORE THE COURT

## 1. SB800 Does Not Eliminate the Common Law Rights and Remedies Enjoyed by California Homeowners

The first issue before this Court is whether and to what extent the enactment of SB800 nullified the common law rights that have long benefited California homeowners who seek to obtain compensation for defective conditions in their homes. Plaintiffs contend that none of California homeowners' common law rights have been supplanted by SB800. To the extent that the Court is inclined to find otherwise, plaintiffs contend that the only right affected by SB800 is the right to bring a tort action based upon conditions which violate the building standards set forth in Civil Code section 896.

# a. Common Law Rights Are Not Nullified by Statute Absent Express Language to the Contrary

This Court has often recognized that, in the absence of an express statement that a statute alters a rule of common law, statutes are interpreted in a manner that is consistent with the common law. In *California Association of Health Facilities v. Department of Health Services* (1997) 16 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 284, this Court stated the rule as follows:

As a general rule, "[u]nless expressly provided, statutes should not be interpreted to alter the common law, and should be construed to avoid conflict with common law rules. [Citation.] 'A statute will be construed in light of common law decisions, unless its language "clearly and unequivocally discloses an intention to depart from, alter, or abrogate the common law rule concerning the particular subject matter . . . .' [Citations.]" [Citation.]"

(*Id.* at p. 297, quoting *Goodman v. Zimmerman* (1994) 25 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1667, 1676.)

The statute at issue in *California Association of Health Facilities* authorized monetary sanctions to be imposed on nursing home facilities that violated state or federal regulations, but provided that such citations would be dismissed if the nursing home was found to have acted reasonably under the circumstances in its attempts to comply with the regulation. (*Id.* at p. 288.)

Under the common law, the duties of nursing home operators are nondelegable. (*Id.* at p. 296.) Finding no indication in the statutory language that the statute intended to override the common law, this Court concluded that the statute

"should be understood to be consistent with the common law rule that licensees are responsible for the acts and omissions of their agents." (*Id.* at p. 299.) This Court further stated that, "[W]hen the Legislature intends to provide exceptions to the rule of nondelegable duties for licensees in the context of administrative enforcement actions, it does so expressly." (*Id.* at p. 302.)

This Court provided additional explanation of the basis for this rule in *Li v. Yellow Cab Co.* (1975) 13 Cal.3d 804, stating:

"The Civil Code was not designed to embody the whole law of private and civil relations, rights, and duties; it is incomplete and partial; and except in those instances where its language clearly and unequivocally discloses an intention to depart from, alter, or abrogate the common-law rule concerning a particular subject matter, a section of the code purporting to embody such doctrine or rule will be construed in light of common-law decisions on the same subject."

(*Id.* at p. 815, quoting *Estate of Elizalde* (1920) 182 Cal. 427, 433.)

At issue in *Li* was Civil Code section 1714, which states in pertinent part that "Everyone is responsible . . . for an injury occasioned to another by his or her want of ordinary care or skill in the management of his or her property or person, except so far as the latter has, willfully or by want of ordinary care, brought the injury upon himself or herself." This Court acknowledged that the language of section 1714 "seems to provide in specific terms for a rule of *comparative* rather than *contributory* negligence -- i.e., for a rule whereby plaintiff's recovery is to be diminished *to the extent* that his own

actions have been responsible for his injuries," as opposed to the rule of contributory negligence, whereby any negligence by the plaintiff bars recovery altogether. (*Li* at pp. 816-817. Orig. emphasis.) However, this is not the interpretation that this Court gave to section 1714. This Court examined the development of the common law in this and various other jurisdictions, and determined that, "the intention of the Legislature in enacting section 1714 of the Civil Code was to state the basic rule of negligence together with the defense of contributory negligence modified by the emerging doctrine of last clear chance." (*Li* at p. 821.)

More recently, in *Verdugo v. Target Corp.* (2014) 59 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 312, the plaintiffs in a wrongful death action contended that the common law duty of care owed by the defendant store chain to its customers included the duty to have on hand a defibrillating device (an "AED") for use in the event that a customer suffered a heart attack while in the store. (*Id.* at p. 316.) The defendant claimed that it was excused from any such duty by Health and Safety Code section 1797.196(f), which states that, "Nothing in this section or Section 1714.21 of the Civil Code may be construed to require a building owner or a building manager to acquire and have installed an AED in any building." (*Id.* at p. 325.)

This Court rejected defendant's claim that it was insulated from liability by section 1797.196(f). (*Verdugo* at p. 331.) This Court quoted the rule as

stated above in *California Association of Health Facilities* that a statute does not alter the common law "unless expressly provided." (*Id.* at p. 326.) This Court then found that because the statute stated only that liability cannot arise from certain statutory provisions, and said nothing about liability arising from the defendant's common law tort duty, the statute could not be found to have altered the common law. (*Id.* at pp. 326-327.) This Court found that, "In other contexts, the Legislature has used much clearer and more explicit statutory language when it has intended to entirely preclude the imposition of liability upon an individual or entity under common law principles for acting or failing to act in a particular manner." (*Id.* at p. 326.)

As an example, this Court cited to Civil Code section 1714(c), which states that "no social host who furnishes alcoholic beverages to any person may be held legally accountable for damages suffered by that person, or for injury to the person or property of, or death of, any third person, resulting from the consumption of those beverages." (*Verdugo* at pp. 326-327.) This Court also cited to Health and Safety Code section 1799.102(a), which states that that a person who provides emergency medical or nonmedical care at the scene of accident is immunized from liability arising therefrom, and to Civil Code section 846, which states that a landowner owes no duty of care to keep his or her premises safe for others for any recreational purpose or to give any warning of hazardous conditions, except as otherwise provided by statute. (*Id*.

at p. 327.) This Court found that each of these statutes expressly conflicted with and altered the applicable common law tort duty. (*Id.* at p. 327.)

# b. The Common Law Rights Accorded to California Homeowners Who Seek to Recover for Defective Conditions

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