SUPREME COURT FILED

APR 26 2016

Case No. S229762

Frank A. McGuire Clerk
Deputy

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

McMILLIN ALBANY, LLC, et al. Petitioners,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF KERN COUNTY, Respondent.

CARL & SANDRA VAN TASSEL, et al., Real Parties in Interest.

Kern County Superior Court Case No. S-1500-CV-279141 Honorable David R. Lampe, Presiding Judge, Dept. 11

From the Published Opinion of the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District Civil Case No. F069370

#### McMILLIN'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

In this case Real Parties in Interest ("Real Parties") claim they can circumvent the builders' "absolute right" to the "mandatory" SB800 prelitigation inspection and repair process simply by the way they choose to draft their complaint. They assert that if only tort common law causes of action and/or breach of contract causes of action are alleged, then SB800's prelitigation procedures do not apply.

The builders' prelitigation "right" cannot be "absolute" or "mandatory" if it is only made available to builders at the election of homeowners. The plain language of the SB800 statutory scheme abrogates tort common law causes of action. It also provides that any action to enforce a contract is subject to its prelitigation process if the builder has elected to use that process. The fundamental error in Real Parties' statutory construction analysis is that they presuppose that the *only* purpose for SB800's enactment was to abrogate the "economic loss rule," which prevented plaintiffs from recovering for residential construction defects that did not cause resulting physical damage to the home. This premise is demonstrably false by reference to both the plain language of the statutory scheme as a whole and to SB800's Legislative history. When all of SB800's purposes and provisions are given effect, it abrogates tort common law causes of action and requires all residential construction defect actions to proceed through the prelitigation process.

### II. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL SUMMARY

### A. Real Parties' Petition for Review and Issues under Review by this Court

Real Parties filed a Petition for Review with this Court on October 6, 2015, which was granted on November 24, 2015. While the Court's order granting review did not define the issues for review, it appears from the parties' briefing that they are as follows:

- 1. "What is the scope of causes of action that are precluded by Title Seven of the Civil Code, at section 895 et seq., commonly referred to as 'SB800', for residential construction defects in non-condominium conversion homes?"
- 2. "Does SB800 require compliance with the statutory prelitigation procedure set forth at Civil Code section 910 et seq., if the homeowner does not state any claim for relief under SB800?"

## B. Summary of *Liberty Mutual* and *Burch* and Their Effect on Builders' "Absolute Right" to Enforce SB800's Prelitigation Inspection and Repair Process

In Liberty Mutual Insurance Co. v. Brookfield Crystal Cove, LLC (2013) 219 Cal.App.4th 98, a pipe suddenly burst and flooded the home of Liberty Mutual's insured homeowner; it was an actual catastrophic loss. (Id. at 100, 106.) The builder, Brookfield, "acknowledged its liability for,

and repaired, the damage to [the homeowner's] home," while Liberty Mutual paid the homeowner's relocation expenses. (*Id.* at 100-101.) Liberty Mutual then sued Brookfield under a subrogation theory to recover for the amounts it paid to relocate its insured. (*Id.* at 101.) Based on Brookfield's argument that SB800 was the exclusive remedy for a plaintiff to pursue construction defects, the trial court found Liberty Mutual's complaint was time-barred by a statute of limitation for plumbing defects contained in section 896(e). (*Id.* at 100-103, FN1.)

The Fourth District Court of Appeal framed the issue before it as "whether Liberty Mutuals [sic] complaint in subrogation falls exclusively within the Right to Repair Act, and therefore is time-barred." (Id. at 102.) It ultimately held that "the Act does not provide the exclusive remedy in cases where actual damage has occurred because of construction defects" (id. at 109) and "the Act does not eliminate a property owner's common law rights and remedies, otherwise recognized by law, where, as here, actual damage has occurred." (Id. at 101.)

Following the *Liberty Mutual* decision, in *Burch v. Superior Court* (2014) 223 Cal.App.4th 1411, the Second District Court of Appeal adopted the *Liberty Mutual* court's holding with no meaningful or detailed analysis

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This direct quote from the *Liberty Mutual* opinion plainly refutes Real Parties' statement in their Opening Brief on the Merits, at pg. 22, that Liberty Mutual "paid to repair the home."

other than a cursory review of what was already stated in *Liberty Mutual*. (*Id.* at 1417-1418.)

### C. Summary of Real Parties' Procedural Efforts to Avoid SB800's Prelitigation Inspection and Repair Process in this Case

On or around April 16, 2013 Real Parties filed their complaint, and on or around July 2, 2013 they filed their First Amended Complaint ("FAC") (Writ Exhibit, Vol. 1, Exhibit 2<sup>2</sup>). Both complaints were filed without first serving McMillin with a Notice of Claim pursuant to Civil Code section 910. The FAC alleged a cause of action for "Violations of Building Standards as Set Forth in California Civil Code § 896," along with causes of action for "Strict Products Liability," "Strict Products Liability (Component Products)," "Breach of Implied Warranty (Merchantability)," "Breach of Contract," "Negligence," "Breach of Express Warranty," and "Violation of Statute." (Vol. 1, Exhibit 2, Bates No. 000552.)

After McMillin was served with the FAC, counsel for McMillin and Real Parties engaged in negotiations to stay the underlying action for purposes of completing the SB800 prelitigation procedures. (Vol. 1, Exhibit 4, Bates Nos. 000033-000034, 000037-000049). Counsel for Real Parties eventually withdrew from those negotiations, stating that they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> All references to Volume and Exhibit numbers hereinafter are pertaining to the Writ Exhibits filed with the Fifth District Court of Appeal, unless otherwise indicated. For the Court's convenience, Bates Numbers have been applied to each Exhibit; they are consecutive within each Exhibit, but not consecutive across/between Exhibits.

intended to dismiss "the SB800 Cause of Action altogether," not engage in SB800's prelitigation procedure, and "instead only pursue the other common law causes of action as [they were] entitled to do under the recent *Liberty Mutual* decision." (Vol. 1, Exhibit 4, Bates Nos. 000034, 000048.) A request for dismissal of Real Parties' cause of action for "Violations of Building Standards as Set Forth in California Civil Code §896" was filed with Respondent Court. (Vol. 1, Exhibits 3 and 1, Bates Nos. 000595-000596.)

## D. McMillin's Motion to Stay, the Hearing on the Motion to Stay, and Real Parties' Drafting of Respondent Court's Order Denying the Motion to Stay

As the result of Real Parties' refusal to stipulate to stay the action, McMillin was forced to bring a Motion to Stay Pursuant to Civil Code § 930 ("Motion to Stay"). (Vols. 1 and 2, Exhibits 4, 5 and 5 (cont.).) An Opposition and Reply were also filed. (Vol. 2, Exhibits 7 and 8.)

The Motion was heard by Respondent Court on January 29, 2014.

Respondent Court concluded the hearing with the following statement:

I'm satisfied in the sense that I think I'm correctly applying the rule of law that is dictated to this court by Liberty Mutual. And so I deny the motion for a stay.

The plaintiff's counsel shall prepare an order pursuant to California Rule of Court, Rule 3.1312.

I will state that – although there is no written request I'll state on the exercise of my discretion that there is a controlling question of law here as to which there are substantial grounds for a difference of opinion, appellate resolution of which may materially advance the conclusion of this litigation.

(Vol. 3, Exhibit 13 (cont.), Bates Nos. 000587 [line 19]-000588 [line 2].)

Real Parties' counsel drafted Respondent Court's order as follows:

IT IS ORDERED that Defendant's Motion to Stay is Denied. Pursuant to Liberty Mutual Insurance Co. v. Brookfield Crystal Cove, LLC (2013) 219 Cal.App.4th 98, the Plaintiffs are entitled to plead common law causes of action in lieu of a cause of action for violation of building standards set forth in Civil Code § 896 et seq. ("SB 800"). Plaintiffs need not submit to the SB 800 prelitigation process when their Complaint does not assert claims for violations of SB 800 standards.

The Court also acknowledges that its ruling here involves a controlling question of law as to which there are substantial grounds for difference of opinion, appellate resolution of which may materially advance the conclusion of this litigation. (See Code Civ. Proc. § 166.1.) (Vol. 3, Exhibit 16, Bates No. 000005.)

Real Parties' counsel submitted to McMillin's counsel only one draft of this order; it was unaltered by McMillin's counsel and was adopted and executed by Respondent Court without change. (Declaration of Michael D. Worthing in McMillin's Reply to Return, ¶ 5, Exhibit 2.)

## E. The Fifth District Grants McMillin's Petition for Writ of Mandate, Motions for Judicial Notice and Issues its McMillin Albany Opinion

On May 16, 2014 McMillin filed with the Fifth District Court of Appeal a Petition for Writ of Mandate ("Writ Petition"). On September 12, 2014, the Fifth District (1) issued an Order to Show Cause why the relief sought in McMillin's Writ Petition should not be granted, (2) granted

McMillin's concurrently filed Motion for Judicial Notice of SB800's legislative history, and (3) granted McMillin's concurrently filed Motion for Judicial Notice of a Kings County Superior Court ruling and related papers to show inconsistent application of *Liberty Mutual* among the Superior Courts of the Fifth District. Real Parties then filed a Return by Answer ("Return"), to which McMillin filed a Reply ("Reply to Return").

In its opinion issued on August 26, 2015, after an exhaustive and detailed analysis of SB800's various code sections and its legislative history, the Fifth District "reject[ed] [Liberty Mutual's] reasoning and outcome," as being "not consistent with the express language of the [SB800] Act." (McMillin Albany, LLC et al. v. Superior Court (2015) 239 Cal.App.4th 1132, 1141.) The Fifth District ultimately held the following:

[T[he Legislature intended that all claims arising out of defects in residential construction, involving new residences sold on or after January 1, 2003 (§ 938), be subject to the standards and the requirements of the Act; the homeowner bringing such a claim must give notice to the builder and engage in the prelitigation procedures in accordance with the Provisions of Chapter 4 of the Act prior to filing suit in court. Where the complaint alleges deficiencies in construction that constitute violations of the standards set out in Chapter 2 of the Act, the claims are subject to the Act, and the homeowner must comply with the prelitigation procedures, regardless of whether the complaint expressly alleges a cause of action under the Act. (*Id.* at 1146.)

#### III. <u>DISCUSSION OF ISSUES BEFORE</u> THE COURT

### A. Standard of Review, California's Rules for Statutory Construction and Nullification of Common Law Rights by Statute

This Court reviews de novo questions of statutory construction. (*Lee v. Hanley* (2015) 61 Cal.4th 1225, 1232.) In doing so, the Court's "fundamental task is to ascertain the intent of the lawmakers so as to effectuate the purpose of the statute." (*Id.*; California Code of Civil Procedure ("C.C.P.") § 1859, "In the construction of a statute the intention of the Legislature . . . is to be pursued, if possible.")

The Court begins "by examining the statutory language because it generally is the most reliable indicator of legislative intent." (*Id.*) The Court "give[s] the language its usual and ordinary meaning, and if there is no ambiguity, then [the Court] presume[s] the lawmakers meant what they said, and the plain meaning of the language governs." (*Id.* at 1232-1233 (internal quotes omitted).)

However, "[t]he 'plain meaning' rule does not prohibit a court from determining whether the literal meaning of a measure comports with its purpose or whether such a construction of one provision is consistent with the other provisions of the statute." (*People v. Elmore* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 121, 139-140 (internal quotes omitted).) "The language is construed in the context of the statute as a whole and the overall statutory scheme, and [the Court] give[s] significance to every word, phrase, sentence, and part of an

act in pursuance of the legislative purpose." (Id. at 140 (internal quotes omitted); Kulshrestha v. First Union Commercial Corp. (2004) 33 Cal.4th 601, 611 "[C]ourts may not excise words from statutes. [Citation.] We assume each term has meaning and appears for a reason. [Citation.]"; C.C.P. § 1858 "In the construction of a statute . . . the office of the Judge is simply to ascertain and declare what is in terms or in substance contained therein, not to insert what has been omitted, or to omit what has been inserted; and where there are several provisions or particulars, such a construction is, if possible, to be adopted as will give effect to all.") Where "a specific provision [is] construed with reference to the entire statutory system of which it is a part, in such a way that the various elements of the overall scheme are harmonized . . . [t]he policy sought to be implemented should be respected . . . and to this end, titles of acts, headnotes, and chapter and section headings may properly be considered in determining legislative intent." (Bowland v. Municipal Court (1976) 18 Cal.3d 479, 489 (citations omitted).)

Consequently, "[t]he intent of the law prevails over the letter of the law, and the letter will, if possible, be so read as to conform to the spirit of the act." (*People v. Elmore* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 121, 140 (citations and internal quotes omitted); *Riverside County Sheriff's Dept. v. Stiglitz* (2014) 60 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 624, 630, "[The Court] may reject a literal construction that is contrary to the legislative intent apparent in the statute or that would lead to

absurd results" (citation and internal quotes omitted).) Similarly, where a statute is to be construed 'strictly,' "strict construction must still be a reasonable construction." (Cedars of Lebanon Hospital v. Los Angeles County (1950) 35 Cal.2d 729, 735.)

"Under governing principles of statutory construction, 'the expression of one thing in a statute ordinarily implies the exclusion of other things. [Citation.]" (*People v. Guzman* (2005) 35 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 577, 588.) "If exemptions are specified in a statute, [the Court] may not imply additional exemptions unless there is a clear legislative intent to the contrary." (*Lee v. Hanley* (2015) 61 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 1225, 1239 (citations, internal quotes and brackets omitted); *Quarry v. Doe I* (2012) 53 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 945, 970, "It is a settled rule of statutory construction that 'where exceptions to a general rule are specified by statute, other exceptions are not to be implied or presumed.' [Citation.]".)

"The Legislature, of course, is deemed to be aware of statutes and judicial decisions already in existence, and to have enacted or amended a statute in light thereof. [Citation.]" (*People v. Yartz* (2005) 37 Cal.4th 529, 538 (citation and internal quotes omitted).)

"[I]f the statutory language permits more than one reasonable interpretation, courts may consider various extrinsic aids, including the purpose of the statute, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, and the statutory scheme encompassing the statute." (*People* 

v. Yartz (2005) 37 Cal.4th 529, 538 (citations and internal quotes omitted); see also In re Reeves (2005) 35 Cal.4th 765, 771 FN9, citing Renee J. v. Superior Court (2001) 26 Cal4th 735, 744, "When a statute is capable of more than one construction, we must give the provision a reasonable and commonsense interpretation consistent with the apparent purpose and intention of the lawmakers, practical rather than technical in nature, which upon application will result in wise policy rather than mischief or absurdity" (internal quotes and brackets omitted).)

"In [the Court's] effort to divine what the Legislature intended, [it] may consider not only [the Legislature's] internal written expression of the bill's meaning and purpose, but also the wider historical circumstances of the bill's enactment." (In re Dannenberg (2005) 34 Cal.4th 1061, 1082 (citations, internal quotes and brackets omitted).) Further, "where uncertainty exists consideration should be given to the consequences that will flow from a particular interpretation." (Id. (citations, internal quotes and brackets omitted).) "Ultimately [the Court] choose[s] the construction that comports most closely with the apparent intent of the lawmakers, with a view to promoting rather than defeating the general purpose of the statute." (Lee v. Hanley (2015) 61 Cal.4th 1225, 1233 (citations and internal quotes omitted).)

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